RECEIVED

Mar 31 2026

SC Court of Appeals

THE STATE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
In The Supreme Court

APPEAL FROM COLLETON COUNTY
Court of General Sessions

Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge

Appellate Case No. 2026-000656
Opinion No. 2026-UP-018 (SC Ct. App. filed January 21, 2026)

The State,

Respondent,

Rita M. Pangalangan,

Petitioner.

PETITION FOR A WRIT OF CERTIORARI

Dayne C. Phillips, Esq.
SC Bar No. 77712
Price Benowitz LLP
1614 Taylor Street, Suite D
Columbia, SC 29201
(803) 807-0234

Attorney for Petitioner

QUESTIONS PRESENTED

1. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony that petitioner frequently left her daughter unattended in a vehicle when the State failed to prove the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence, Petitioner did not testify, that testimony does not show a common scheme or plan or constitute res gestae, and the striking similarity of the testimony to the charged criminal offense enhanced the substantial unfair prejudice to Petitioner?
2. Did Court of Appeals err in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in admitting unfairly prejudicial photographs of her daughter's corpse with a white sheet and coroner's tag and in finding Petitioner did not preserve the error admitting an irrelevant photograph of an gun found in the vehicle when the photos served no legitimate purpose and were calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury?
3. Did Court of Appeals err in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion for a mistrial based on the cumulative errors of admitting the prior bad act evidence and photographs, and in finding Petitioner did not preserve any error related to the State's improper closing argument that was calculated to arouse the passions and prejudice of the jurors?
4. Did the Court of Appeals err in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in denying Petitioner's motion for attorney-conducted voir dire when the current procedure denies Petitioner's right to a fair trial by a panel of impartial jurors who were selected using a fundamentally fair procedure?

STATEMENT OF THE CASE

Procedural History

On August 6, 2020, the Colleton County Grand Jury indicted Petitioner, Rita Pangalangan, for murder. (App. 839 - 840). The Colleton County Grand Jury also indicted Petitioner for great bodily injury on a child (“GBIC”) on October 6, 2022, and Criminal Conspiracy on November 3, 2022. (App. 841 – 844). The Grand Jury also indicted Petitioner’s Co-Defendant, Larry King, for the same offenses.

On August 28, 2023, Petitioner and her co-defendant proceeded to a joint trial before the Honorable Clifton Newman and a jury. (App. 6).¹ Dayne Phillips represented Petitioner, John Loy and Gil Gatch represented co-defendant King, and Solicitors Duffie Stone and Sean Thornton prosecuted the case on behalf of the State.

On September 1, 2023, the jury returned guilty verdicts against Petitioner and co-defendant King for murder and GBIC, and not guilty verdict for criminal conspiracy. (App. 771, line 12 – 772, line 25). The Trial Court sentenced Petitioner to thirty-seven years imprisonment for the murder conviction and twenty years imprisonment on the GBIC conviction. (App. 818, line 7-10). The Trial Court imposed concurrent sentences. (App. 818, lines 11-12).

On September 8, 2023, Petitioner filed a Notice of Appeal. (App. 851). Petitioner filed its Final Brief of Appellant on March 25, 2025. (App. 854). The State then filed its Final Brief of Respondent on March 26, 2025. (App. 888).

On January 21, 2026, the South Carolina Court of Appeals affirmed Petitioner’s convictions and sentences. *State v. Rita Pangalangan*, Op. No. 2026-UP-018 (S.C. Ct. App. filed January 21,

¹ Please note there are a significant number of errors in the transcript (e.g., incorrectly listing the speaking party and providing the wrong word that is similar to the correct word).

2026). (App. 923). Petitioner filed a Petition for Rehearing on February 5, 2026. (App. 929). The Court of Appeals issued an Order denying the Petition for Rehearing on February 9, 2026. (App. 934). Petitioner moved for an extension of time to file this Petition for Writ of Certiorari to the Court of Appeals on March 11, 2026.

Background

On August 5, 2019, Petitioner's thirteen-year-old disabled daughter died from hyperthermia² after being inside Petitioner's car for over five hours in the front yard of co-defendant King's residence. Specifically, co-defendant King asked Petitioner to leave his residence after a disagreement and put her daughter in the car for them to go home. (App. 574 – 575). Co-defendant King testified that the car engine was running, and he believed the air-conditioner was on, or he would not have left Petitioner's daughter in the car. (App. 577, lines 4-9).

It is undisputed that Petitioner and co-defendant King left his residence to get another key fob after being unable to open the car doors several hours later, and co-defendant King called a local locksmith for help to unlock the car. (App. 618 – 624). Co-defendant King further testified that Petitioner did not want her daughter to die. (App. 612). Notably, co-defendant King's home surveillance cameras recorded this incident.

At trial, the State played the surveillance video recordings for the jury and presented evidence from an expert witness regarding the potential temperatures inside the car at different time intervals, a pathologist to explain the cause and manner of her the Child's death, and an expert witness to explain the potential effects of methamphetamine use on cognitive impairment and behavior. The State argued that Petitioner and Co-Defendant King were high on

² Hyperthermia is an abnormally high body temperature caused by a failure of the heat-regulating mechanisms of the body to deal with the heat coming from the environment. *See* National Institutes of Health, *Hyperthermia: too hot for your health*, <https://www.nih.gov/news-events/news-releases/hyperthermia-too-hot-your-health-1> (last visited on September 6, 2024).

methamphetamine at the time of this incident, and that the jurors could infer malice based on reckless conduct.

Petitioner seeks a writ of certiorari to review the Court of Appeals' decision.

ARGUMENT

1. **THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING TESTIMONY THAT PETITIONER FREQUENTLY LEFT HER DAUGHTER UNATTENDED IN A VEHICLE WHEN THE STATE FAILED TO PROVE THE PRIOR BAD ACT BY CLEAR AND CONVINCING EVIDENCE, PETITIONER DID NOT TESTIFY, THAT TESTIMONY DOES NOT SHOW A COMMON SCHEME OR PLAN OR CONSTITUTE RES GESTAE, AND THE STRIKING SIMILARITY OF THE TESTIMONY TO THE CHARGED CRIMINAL OFFENSE ENHANCED THE SUBSTANTIAL UNFAIR PREJUDICE TO PETITIONER.**

Law

Typically, evidence of a person's character is not admissible to prove the person acted "in conformity therewith on a particular occasion." Rule 404(a), SCRE. Evidence of a person's "other crimes, wrongs, or acts" are generally inadmissible to prove a person's general character "in order to show action in conformity therewith." Rule 404(b), SCRE (commonly referred to as prior bad act or *Lyle* evidence). The proponent of prior bad act evidence must demonstrate it has a legitimate purpose, "i.e., the evidence does something more than prove a person has propensity to commit crimes". *Johnson v. State*, 433 S.C. 550, 555, 860 S.E.2d 696, 699 (Ct. App. 2021). Under Rule 404(b), SCRE, there are only five legitimate purposes for the admission of prior bad act evidence: to prove "motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident, or intent."

This Court addressed the proper approach to determining the admissibility of prior bad act evidence in *State v. Perry*, 430 S.C. 24, 842 S.E.2d 654 (2020). In a criminal case, the State must convince the trial court that the prior bad act evidence is logically relevant to a material fact at issue in the case: "If it is logically pertinent in that it reasonably tends to prove a material fact in issue, it is not to be rejected merely because it incidentally proves the defendant guilty of another crime." *Lyle*, 125 S.C. at 417, 118 S.E. at 807.

If, after applying the logical relevancy test with “rigid scrutiny,” the trial court concludes the prior bad act evidence serves some purpose other than to show the defendant’s proclivity for criminal conduct (and that purpose is one of the five listed in Rule 404(b)), then the evidence is admissible unless its “probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice, confusion of the issues, or misleading the jury, or by considerations of undue delay, waste of time, or needless presentation of cumulative evidence.” Rule 403, SCRE; *see Perry*, 430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 665.

Notably, if the prior bad act did not result in a criminal conviction, the State also bears the burden of proving the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence. *Johnson*, 433 S.C. at 556, 860 S.E.2d at 699. The danger of unfair prejudice is enhanced when the prior bad act is “strikingly similar” to the one for which the appellant is being tried. *State v. Gore*, 283 S.C. 118, 121, 322 S.E.2d 12, 13 (1984).

Prior bad act evidence “is not rejected because character is irrelevant; on the contrary, it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them as to prejudge one with a bad general record and deny him a fair opportunity to defend against a particular charge.” *Michelson v. United States*, 335 U.S. 469, 475–76 (1948) (footnote omitted). The Court of Appeals reiterated the purpose of barring prior bad act evidence to prove character in *Johnson*, deeming it useless to the factfinder:

The law’s disdain of character evidence draws from notions of basic fairness tied together by the “golden thread”—the presumption of innocence—so one is rightly judged by whether the government has proven what it has charged, regardless of who it has charged. That is, after all, the spirit of the rule of law.

Johnson, 433 S.C. at 556, 860 S.E.2d at 700.

Under the theory of *res gestae*, the State can argue that evidence is necessary for a full presentation of the case without fragmentation. *See generally State v. Simmons*, 352 S.C. 342, 573 S.E.2d 856 (Ct. App. 2002).

Motion to Suppress Prior Bad Act Character Evidence

Pre-Trial, Petitioner moved for the State to disclose prior bad act evidence and objected to the State presenting inadmissible propensity evidence. (App. 192, lines 1-8). In response, the State indicated its intent to present the testimony of Brittany Honeycutt and Lindsey Lewis under *res gestae*. (App. 193, lines 1-6). The State argued, “This happened on a Monday . . . [Petitioner] left her child with this babysitter [Lindsay Lewis on a] Friday, Saturday, and Sunday, and she describes, basically, [Petitioner] leaving the child with her and taking off, and she doesn’t see her for the full weekend, didn’t know she was leaving.” (App. 193, lines 15-21). The Prosecutor also maintained that Petitioner’s former roommate, Brittany Honeycutt, would testify that Petitioner told her, “Just take the child with you to work, and put her in the car, that’s what I always do.” (App. 194, lines 11-13).

In response, Petitioner argued:

Any evidence of that nature that’s not resulting from a conviction must be . . . proved by clear and convincing evidence to be admissible, and pursuant to *State v. [Gore]*, when a prior bad act, or similar to the one, where a person’s being tried, the danger of unfair prejudice is enhanced. So not only under 404(b), if an exception applies, we argue that it doesn’t, but if an exception applied, you still have the 403 analysis that the probative value of the evidence is substantially outweighed by its prejudicial effect. And here it’s not a result of a conviction, and it’s highly similar, so the danger of unfair prejudice is enhanced under the case law.

(App. 195, lines 2-17). Petitioner also submitted a written motions. (App. 198, lines 1-4; App. 239, lines 11-22; App. 833 – 838).

The Trial Court initially stated that he does not rule in advance on “critical issues”. (App. 199, line 22 – 200, line 1). However, after Petitioner subsequently reiterated this argument to the

Trial Court when moving to limit the scope of the State's opening statement, the Trial Court held:

As far as the res gestae it also shows - - could show the state of mind of the Defendants. I find the relevance outweighs any danger of unfair prejudice, due to the State's burden of proof and weighing both things that it's admissible, whether or not the State will establish that by clear and convincing evidence under Rule 403 and 404[(b), SCRE]. . . . I find that those - - that prior conduct is likewise admissible, as part of the res gestae, as it relates to matters that occurred the week before the death of the child. At this time, the motion is denied.

(App. 244, lines 15-22).

At trial, Petitioner objected during the State's direct examination of her former roommate, Brittany Honeycutt, when the State asked about whether she had "watch[ed]" Petitioner's daughter: "And, Your Honor, this is subject to our prior objection." The Trial Court responded, "Yes, proceed." (App. 333, line 20 – 335, line 6). The State then presented the following testimony from Petitioner's former roommate:

Solicitor: *Did [Petitioner] ever just leave the child with you without asking you to take care of her?*

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: And how did that happen?

Honeycutt: So there was an incident where there was a Sunday night in July, where she had asked me to watch her for just overnight, and I said that was fine. So - - I'm sorry, that was also on Monday.

Solicitor: Okay.

Honeycutt: And she came back the next day, because I had told her I had to work. So she did come back home that morning, and she told me was gonna (sic) be home all day.

And when I was ready to go to work, or sorry, I am so sorry, I got my days mixed up. So when the - - when I first watched her the first night, that was an agreement. The next day it was she wasn't going anywhere, and then it was she gave her - - I remember her giving her a bath I remember getting ready

for bed, and she would close her door, and she did the normal routine.

And then I went to bed with my kids, because I had to work the next day, and the next thing I know, *the next morning I woke up [the Child] was in her room, trying to get out of the bed.*

Solicitor: So she - - when [the Child's] in the room, is she locked in the room?

Honeycutt: I don't know if the door was locked, but I know she could not open the door.

Solicitor: Because of the hands?

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: Did [the Child] - - [Petitioner] - - and let me go - - now we're gonna go right up until August when you left.

Honeycutt: Uh-huh.

Solicitor: You ended up leaving the Thursday before this event - -

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: - - took place; is that correct?

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: Okay. Leading up close to that time did you have a discussion with [Petitioner] about you babysitting [her daughter], and whether or not you were able to do that?

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: Please tell us about that.

...

Honeycutt: Sorry. [Petitioner] came up to me and had asked me if I could watch her. I had let her know I had to go into work for a few hours, and she kept asking me over and over.

And, finally, when the answer didn't change it was no, obviously, she told me to leave [her daughter] in my car with the windows down, because she does it all the time.

Petitioner: Same as our objection. Your Honor.

Trial Court: Objection is overruled.

Solicitor: And, I'm sorry, I keep interrupting you, could you - - she - you said you couldn't, because you had to go to work?

Honeycutt: Yes.

Solicitor: Pick it up from there.

Honeycutt: So when I told her the first time, she kept asking me over and over again. *And when she realized that the answer was not gonna (sic) change from no, she had told me that I could still take her [daughter], and leave her in my car with the windows down, and - - because she does it all the time, because she does it all the time.*

Solicitor: She being?

Honeycutt: Petitioner.

(App. 334, line 20 – 338, line 1) (emphasis added).

Discussion

In this case, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony that Petitioner frequently left her daughter unattended in a vehicle when the State failed to prove the prior bad act by clear and convincing evidence, Petitioner did not testify, that testimony does not show a common scheme or plan or constitute res gestae, and the striking similarity of the testimony to the charged criminal offense enhanced the substantial unfair prejudice to Petitioner. *See generally Johnson*, 433 S.C. at 556, 860 S.E.2d at 699; *Gore*, 283 S.C. at 121, 322 S.E.2d at 13 (finding the danger of unfair prejudice is enhanced when the prior bad act is “strikingly similar” to the one for which the appellant is being tried); *see also Michelson v.*

United States, 335 U.S. 469, 475–76 (1948) (finding prior bad act evidence “is not rejected because character is irrelevant; on the contrary, it is said to weigh too much with the jury and to so overpersuade them as to prejudge one with a bad general record and deny him a fair opportunity to defend against a particular charge.”) (footnote omitted).

The State failed to present any corroborating evidence to satisfy its burden of proving this prior bad act (not the result of a conviction) by clear and convincing evidence. Petitioner did not testify at trial, raising the defense of mistake or accident. The common scheme or plan exception does not apply because there is no independent evidence to corroborate the witness testimony that Petitioner previously used her vehicle as a “babysitter” for her daughter. *See generally State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 427, 118 S.E. 803, 811 (1923) (explaining the common plan or scheme exception requires “such a visible connection between the extraneous crimes and the crime charged as will make evidence of one logically tend to prove the other”). That prior bad act testimony is also not admissible under the *res gestae* theory because it was not necessary for a full presentation of the case without fragmentation. *See generally Simmons*, 352 S.C. 342, 573 S.E.2d 856.

Assuming *arguendo*, even if an exception applied under Rule 404(b), SCRE, the probative value of this evidence is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice to Petitioner. *See* Rule 403, SCRE; *Perry*, 430 S.C. at 44, 842 S.E.2d at 665. The former roommate’s prior bad act testimony mirrored this allegation, served only as propensity evidence, and enhanced the unfair prejudice to Petitioner. *See Gore*, 283 S.C. at 121, 322 S.E.2d at 13. The erroneous admission that prior bad act testimony was not harmless because there is a reasonable probability that it improperly influenced the jury’s verdict based on the evidence presented at trial. Therefore, the Court of Appeals erred in finding the Trial Court did not abuse its discretion in admitting testimony that Petitioner frequently left her daughter unattended in a vehicle. *See generally Johnson*, 433

S.C. at 556, 860 S.E.2d at 699.

2. THE COURT OF APPEALS ERRED IN FINDING THE TRIAL COURT DID NOT ABUSE ITS DISCRETION IN ADMITTING UNFAIRLY PREJUDICIAL PHOTOGRAPHS OF HER DAUGHTER'S CORPSE WITH A WHITE SHEET AND CORONER'S TAG AND IN FINDING PETITIONER DID NOT PRESERVE THE ERROR ADMITTING AN IRRELEVANT PHOTOGRAPH OF AN GUN FOUND IN THE VEHICLE WHEN THE PHOTOS SERVED NO LEGITIMATE PURPOSE AND WERE CALCULATED TO AROUSE THE SYMPATHIES AND PREJUDICES OF THE JURY.

Law

Evidence is relevant if it “ha[s] any tendency to make the existence of any fact that is of consequence to the determination of the action more probable or less probable than it would be without the evidence.” Rule 401, SCRE. Under Rule 403, SCRE, relevant evidence may be excluded where its probative value is substantially outweighed by the danger of unfair prejudice. Moreover, “[I]t is well-established that photographs calculated to arouse the sympathies and prejudices of the jury are to be excluded if they are irrelevant or unnecessary to the issues at trial.” *State v. Jones*, 440 S.C. 214, 891 S.E.2d 347 (2023) (quoting *State v. Middleton*, 288 S.C. 21, 24, 339 S.E.2d 692, 693 (1986)).

Photographs are relevant if they “depict the bodies of the murder victims in substantially the same condition in which the defendant left them.” *State v. Kornahrens*, 290 S.C. 281, 289, 350 S.E.2d 180, 185 (1986); Rule 401, SCRE. Even if relevant, photographs are unfairly prejudicial if they “create a ‘tendency to suggest a decision on an improper basis, commonly, though not necessarily, an emotional one.’” *State v. Franklin*, 318 S.C. 47, 55, 456 S.E.2d 357, 361 (1995) (quoting *State v. Alexander*, 303 S.C. 377, 382, 401 S.E.2d 146, 149 (1991)).

In *State v. Collins*, our Supreme Court acknowledged that the photographs were graphic, but concluded that the photos were “highly probative, corroborative, and material in establishing the elements of the offenses charged; their probative value outweighed their potential prejudice;

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