RECEIVED

May 08 2026

SC Court of Appeals

IN THE OF SOUTH CAROLINA
IN THE SUPREME COURT

Certiorari to the Court of Appeals
Appeal from Colleton County
The Honorable Clifton Newman, Circuit Court Judge
Appellate Case No. 2026-000656

THE STATE,

RESPONDENT

v.

RITA M. PANGALANGAN,

APPELLANT

Opinion No. 2026-UP-018 (S.C. Ct. App. Filed January 21, 2026)

**RETURN TO PETITION FOR WRIT OF CERTIORARI
TO THE COURT OF APPEALS**

ALAN WILSON
Attorney General

DONALD J. ZELENKA
Deputy Attorney General

MELODY J. BROWN
Senior Assistant Deputy Attorney General

I. MCDUFFIE STONE
Solicitor, Fourteenth Judicial Circuit

TOMMY EVANS, JR.
Assistant Attorney General
S.C. Bar No. 65282

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

Ms. Lewis testified that she was once the victim's child development teacher. (App. p. 317 l. 10-11). Ms. Lewis was due to watch the victim, so three days before the incident date Ms. Lewis went to the Petitioner's house to get the victim's routine. (App. p. 317 l. 14-22). Ms. Lewis testified that after they went over the victim's routine Petitioner asked Ms. Lewis if she could watch the

¹ Hyperthermia is a medical term that means your internal (core) body temperature is higher than normal. This generally means your temperature is higher than 98.6 degrees Fahrenheit (37 degrees Celsius). Some people have a baseline temperature that's a bit higher or lower than that. Anything above your baseline is hyperthermia. Myclevlandclinc.org <https://diseases/22111-hyperthermia> (last visited on May 7, 2026)

victim for awhile so she and the co-defendant can to out on a date. (App. p. 322 l. 2-5). Ms. Lewis testified that Petitioner left the victim with her Friday night and she did not return until Sunday afternoon (App. 323 l. 2-16). Ms. Lewis testified that there was no food in the house, only Ensure drinks and Kook-Aid. (App. p. 324 l. 1-5).

The *res gestae* theory recognizes evidence of other bad acts may be an integral part of the crime with which the defendant is charged or may be needed to aid the fact finder in understanding the context in which the crime occurred. *State v. McGee*, 408 S.C. 278, 287, 758 S.E.2d 730, 735 (Ct. App. 2014). During pretrial Petitioner made a motion in limine to deny the testimony of Ms. Honeycutt and Ms. Lewis. The State argued that this evidence should come in under *res gestae*. Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina rules of Evidence adopted the criteria found in the South Carolina Supreme Court case of *State v. Lyle*, 125 S.C. 406, 118 S.E. 803 (1923). Rule 404(b) of the South Carolina Rules of Evidence specifically state:

Evidence of other crimes, wrongs, or acts is not admissible to prove the character of a person in order to show action in conformity therewith. It may, however, be admissible to show motive, identity, the existence of a common scheme or plan, the absence of mistake or accident or intent.

Rule 404(b), SCRE.

The Court of Appeals found that this evidence was necessary to prove that the victim was left in the car in the past so this was not a mistake or accident. It also revealed a common scheme or plan often used done by Petitioner. Respondent argues this revealed a pattern of neglect. Petitioner believes that the striking similarity to this evidence and the events enhanced the unfair prejudice placed on Petitioner. The Respondent disagrees. The temporal proximity of the prior act should be closely related to the charged crime. *State v. Owens*, 346 S.C. 637, 652, 552 S.E.2d 745, 753 (2001), *overruled on other grounds by, State v. Cherry*, 363 S.C. 93, 610, S.E.2d 494 (2005). The events testified to by Ms. Honeycutt and Mr. Lewis occurred right before the criminal event. Ms.

Honeycutt testified that the statement made by the Petitioner occurred in July. The occurrence testified to by Ms. Lewis occurred four days before the incident.

Petitioner also argued that since she was not convicted of any offense, there was insufficient clear and convincing evidence to allow this information to be presented to the jury. Evidence of bad acts does not have to be proven beyond a reasonable doubt but need only to be proven by clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Pierce*, 326 S.C. 176, 485 S.E.2d 913 (1997). Where a witness's testimony is the sole evidence of a bad act, the determination of the witness's credibility must be left to the trial judge who saw and heard the witness and is therefore in a better position to evaluate the witness's veracity. *State v. Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107 (Ct. App. 2008); *State v. Tutton*, 354 S.C. 319, 580 S.E.2d 186 (Ct. App. 2003). Should the trial judge determine the witness's testimony clearly and convincingly establishes the bad act occurred, an appellate court is bound by the trial judge's factual findings unless clearly erroneous. *State v. Scott*, 405 S.C. 489, 748 S.E.2d 236 (Ct. App. 2013)); *Kirton*, 381 S.C. 7, 671 S.E.2d 107; *Tutton*, 354 S.C. 319, 580 S.E.2d 186. An appellate court will not conduct a *de novo* review of a trial judge's ruling on the admissibility of bad act evidence on the issue of whether the evidence rises to the level of clear and convincing evidence. *State v. Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300 (2001); *State v. Perry*, 420 S.C. 643, 803 S.E.2d 899 (Ct. App. 2017). A trial judge's ruling admitting bad act evidence will be upheld on appeal if it is supported by any evidence. *Cheeseboro*, 346 S.C. 526, 552 S.E.2d 300; *State v. Smith*, 391 S.C. 353, 705 S.E.2d 491 (Ct. App. 2011), *reversed on other grounds*, 406 S.C. 215, 750 S.E.2d 612 (2013).

The Petitioner argued that the prior bad act evidence was like the one in which the Petitioner was accused of committing. The Court of Appeals was correct in determining that the prior bad acts revealed a common scheme or plan and this was not a mistake nor accident. The

main thing that the State needed to prove is that this was implied malice. During their opening argument Petitioner argued that this was not murder but a mistake and accidental. The prior bad act was essential in proving this was not true but an act that demonstrated total disregard of a human life. In order for a bad act to be admissible the temporal proximity of the prior act should be closely related to the charged crime. *McGee*, 408 S.C. at 288, 758 S.E.2d at 736. To reveal any common scheme or plan or any lack of a mistake or accident, the prior bad act must be related to the crime charged. In case of the common scheme or plan exception, a close degree of similarity between the prior bad act and the crime for which the defendant is on trial is necessary. *State v. Hough*, 325 S.C. 88, 95, 480 S.E.2d 77, 80 (1997). Prior bad act evidence is admissible where the evidence is of such close similarity to the charged offense that the previous act enhances the probative value of the evidence as to outweigh the prejudicial effect. *State v. Raffaldt*, 318 S.C. 110, 114, 456 S.E.2d 390, 392 (1995).

When the Petitioner told Ms. Honeycutt to “just leave her in the car with the windows down because **I do it all the time**,” this definitely revealed a common scheme or plan. This statement also revealed that placing her daughter in this hot car was not an accident. The prior statement of the Petitioner to Ms. Honeycutt was relevant and admissible. When a criminal defendant’s prior bad acts are directed toward the same victim and are very similar in nature, those acts are admissible as a common scheme or plan. *State v. Martucci*, 380 S.C. 232, 255, 669 S.E.2d 598, 610 (2008).

The evidence of the prior bad acts was testimony from two lay witnesses, however, any questions about their credibility is a question of fact that must be determined by the jury. *See, State v. Wilson*, 345 S.C. 1, 545 S.E.2d 827 (2001)(Issue of credibility of defendant’s girlfriend was for

the jury and thus, did not preclude admission of the testimony). The determination of the Court of Appeals affirming the decision of the trial court was lawful and should not be subject to review.

2. The Court of Appeals did not err in affirming the trial court decision in allowing relevant photographs of the victim into evidence because these photographs corroborated the testimony of the medical examiner, and that the objection to the photograph of the gun was not preserved for appeal.

During trial Petitioner contested the introduction of photographs of the victim as she was at the scene. These photographs revealed an undernourished girl, wearing a diaper, hair matted due to the sweat from the heat, with burn marks and welts on her legs due to the heat from the interior of the car. These photos also showed her in an advanced state of decomposition due to the excessive heat. (App. p. 510 l. 21-25). The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court did not err in allowing these photographs into evidence due to them corroborating the testimony of Dr. Batalis regarding the child's cause of death.

If the offered photograph serves to corroborate testimony, it is not an abuse of discretion to admit it. *State v. Nance*, 320 S.C. 501, 508, 466 S.E.2d 349, 353 (1996). These photographs corroborate the testimony made during trial. During trial Dr. Batalis stated that once the victim was found there was skin slippage which is a breakdown process of the body or what is otherwise called decomposition. (App. p. 517 l. 11-13). Dr. Batalis also testified that when temperatures are high, decomposition is going to occur at a must quicker rate than when the temperature is lower. (App. p. 517 l. 17-19). Dr. Batalis also stated how there were "leathery type lesions" which tells us there was some type of actual burn. (App. p. 517 l. 20-23).

During his testimony Dr. Batalis explained how the photographs revealed the condition of the body when it was found and how they corroborated his testimony. During this testimony Dr. Batalis explained:

“So this photograph here illustrates the kind of two different lesions that we’re talking about. So up on the upper aspect of the left thigh here, you can see that there’s very thin appearance, kind of a wispy appearance to the skin. That would be more what I’m speaking of the skin slippage, so part of the breakdown process of the body.” (App. p. 520 l. 7-14).

“But in addition to just that, you can see here on the lower part of the left leg we have his lesion where the skin was more ulcerated away. You can see some areas on the knee on the leg that appear different than up here, where we don’t have an appearance of it.” (App. p. 520 l. 15-20).

“So again to me that would say these areas were likely in contact with something in the area that caused a direct burn or injury to the skin, and we also have areas that show that decomposition is there now.” (App. p. 520 l. 21-25).

These photographs of the condition of the victim were imperative due to the fact Petitioner’s co-defendant testified that the air conditioner was turned on when the victim was placed inside the vehicle. The burn marks on the body, were due to the victim’s leg being in contact with something that caused a direct burn or injury to the skin. (App. p. 520 l. 21-24). These photographs also revealed her hair matted with sweat due to the high temperatures generated inside the vehicle. This proves that the air conditioning was not on when the victim was placed inside this vehicle.

These photographs might have been unconformable to look at, but they were needed to corroborate the testimony of Dr. Batalis which makes these photographs admissible. As this court determined in *Collins*, “Courts must often grapple with disturbing and unpleasant cases, but that does not justify preventing essential evidence from being considered by the jury, which is charged with the solemn duty of acting as the fact-finder. *State v. Collins*, 409 S.C. 524, 534, 763 S.E.2d 22, 28 (2014).

The Court of Appeals was also correct in determining that Petitioner failed to preserve the issue regarding the photograph of the gun found in the back seat. The trial exhibits that were allowed into evidence included a photograph of a gun. Prior to that photo coming into evidence

Petitioner's counsel held a bench conference, the photo was later introduced into evidence as, the trial judge allowed the evidence to be "admitted over objection." (App. p. 309 l. 24-25).

The Court of Appeals ruled that this was not preserved for appeal so this cannot be considered. The Court of Appeals was correct in that decision. An objection to be preserved must be made on the record with a ruling by the court. Appellate court cannot consider issues raised for the first time on appeal. Therefore issues not raised and ruled upon in circuit court will not be considered for appeal. *State v. Bonilla*, 429 S.C. 253, 284, 838 S.E.2d 1, 17 (2019).

An objection made during an off-the-record conference which is not made part of the record does not preserve the question for review. *York v. Conway Ford, Inc.*, 325 S.C. 170, 172, 480 S.E.2d 726, 728 (1997). The Court of Appeals was correct in their ruling; this was not preserved. The Court of Appeals cannot address an issue not raised to the trial court. *Austin v. Specialty Transp. Services, Inc.* 358 S.C. 298, 315, 594 S.E.2d 867, 876 (2004). The objection to this photograph was not preserved for appeal so the Court of Appeals made the correct decision in not considering the issue raised by the Petitioner regarding the photograph of the gun.

3. The Court of Appeals was correct in finding that the trial court did not abuse discretion in denying the motion for a mistrial, Petitioner could not show error, so he was not entitled to a mistrial base on cumulative errors.

During the trial Petitioner moved for a mistrial, claiming cumulative errors. This motion was denied by the trial court. The Petitioner also moved for a mistrial due to statements made by Solicitor Stone during closing arguments. During his closing arguments, Solicitor Stone stated "if they had walked up to her and shot her, she wouldn't have suffered the pain that she suffered in this case. (App. p. 700 l. 2-7). Petitioner argued that this statement was prejudicial due to the fact a gun was found in the back seat of the vehicle that the victim died in.

The Court of Appeals ruled that the trial court did not err, the Petitioner was not entitled to a mistrial under cumulative error doctrine. The cumulative error doctrine provides relief to a party when a combination of errors, insignificant by themselves, has the effect of preventing the party from receiving a fair trial, and the cumulative effect of the errors affects the outcome of the trial. *State v. Johnson*, 334 S.C. 78, 93, 512 S.E.2d 795, 803 (1999). Petitioner has not revealed an error was committed by the trial court. The Petitioner has also failed to reveal that any of his allegations affected his right to a fair trial. An appellant must demonstrate more than error in order to qualify for reversal pursuant to the cumulative error doctrine; rather he must show the errors adversely affected his right to a fair trial to qualify for reversal on this ground. *State v. Beekman*, 405 S.C. 225, 237, 746 S.E.2d 483, 490 (2013).

The Court of Appeals ruled that the testimony made by Ms. Honeycutt and Ms. Lewis regarding Petitioner's statement and neglect of her daughter should be considered a common scheme or plan and also revealing there was no mistake or accident. The Court of Appeals also ruled that photographs of the victim that were admitted were admissible. This was due to the fact these photographs corroborated the testimony of Dr. Nicolas Batalis, the medical examiner who performed the autopsy on the victim. These photographs were admissible due to the fact they corroborated the injuries, and showed the matted hair from sweat, and the burns due to the excessive heat inside that vehicle. The Court of Appeals also ruled that the photograph of the gun found in the back seat was admissible because this issue was not preserved for appeal by Petitioner's trial counsel.

The Court of Appeals found that there was no error committed by the trial judge. Since no error occurred, Petitioner was not entitled to a mistrial due to the cumulative error doctrine. This decision of the Court of Appeals should not be subject to review by this Court.

The Petitioner also moved for a mistrial due to Solicitor Stone's closing argument. This objection was made after the jury charges were given and during jury deliberations. This motion was rightfully denied by the trial court. The Court of Appeals correctly ruled that Petitioner was not entitled a mistrial because this motion was not preserved for appeal. The proper course to be pursued when counsel makes an improper argument is for opposing counsel to *immediately* object and to have a record made of the statements or language complained of and to ask the court for a distinct ruling thereon. *State v. Black*, 319 S.C. 515, 521, 462 S.E.2d 311, 315 (1995)(emphasis in original), *citing*, *Varnadore v. Nationwide Mut. Ins. Co.* 289 S.C. 155, 345 S.E.2d 711 (1986).² Since this objection and motion for mistrial was not made immediately but after the jury began deliberations the Court of Appeals was correct in deciding this was not preserved for appeal.

- 4. It is totally up to the trial court to allow individual voir dire; the Court of Appeals was correct in determining that the trial court did not err in deciding that individual voir dire was not necessary in the present case.**

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